

Tainted Tap:

Nitrate Pollution, Factory Farms, and Drinking Water in Maryland and Beyond

by Darya Minovi and Katlyn Schmitt

October 2020



www.progressivereform.org

About the Center for Progressive Reform

Founded in 2002, the nonprofit Center for Progressive Reform connects a nationwide network of scholars with policymakers and allied public interest advocates. CPR pursues a vision of legal and regulatory policies that put health, safety, and environmental protection before private interests and corporate profit. With rigorous analysis, strategic engagement in public interest campaigns, and a commitment to social welfare, CPR supports thoughtful government action, ready public access to the courts, enhanced public participation, and freer access to information.

About the Authors



Darya Minovi, MPH, is a CPR Policy Analyst. She is a public health advocate passionate about environmental justice and the use of research to inform policies that protect human health and safeguard the environment.



Katlyn Schmitt, J.D., is a CPR Policy Analyst. She joined CPR in 2020 to work on environmental policy, enforcement, and advocacy.

Connect with CPR

Website:https://progressivereform.org/cpr-blog/CPRBlog:https://progressivereform.org/cpr-blog/Twitter:@CPRBlogFacebook:http://on.fb.me/1Tqj0nJDirect media inquiries to Brian Gumm at bgumm@progressivereform.org or at 202.747.0698.

A web-friendly version of this report is available on our website, at <u>https://progressivereform.org/</u>.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank CPR Member Scholar Dave Owen of the University of California Hastings College of Law, Ronnie Levin of the Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, and Abel Russ of the Environmental Integrity Project for thoughtfully reviewing the report, as well as Téa Lorsch for her help with data analysis. This report was made possible by the generous support of the Town Creek Foundation and other contributors.



Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
INTRODUCTION
FIGURE 1: PREDICTED CONCENTRATIONS OF NITRATE IN U.S. GROUNDWATER
NITRATES IN DRINKING WATER HARM PUBLIC HEALTH
THE SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT LACKS PRIVATE WELL WATER PROTECTIONS
NITRATE POLLUTION IN MARYLAND
FIGURE 2: CONCENTRATION OF POULTRY HOUSES IN POCOMOKE CITY AND SURROUNDING AREA.13ANALYSIS OF EASTERN SHORE DRINKING WATER DATA AND PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS15WICOMICO COUNTY.16FIGURE 3: WICOMICO COUNTY WELLS TESTED BETWEEN 2008 AND 2014 WITH NITRATE CONCENTRATIONSGREATER THAN 8 MG/L (SHOWN AS PPM)17TABLE 2. NITRATE CONCENTRATIONS IN WICOMICO COUNTY PUBLIC WATER UTILITIES (2018 AND 2019)*18WORCESTER COUNTY18TABLE 3. NITRATE CONCENTRATIONS IN WORCESTER COUNTY PUBLIC WATER UTILITIES (2019 AND 2020)19SOMERSET COUNTY20TABLE 4. NITRATE CONCENTRATIONS IN SOMERSET COUNTY PUBLIC WATER UTILITIES (2018 AND 2019)20TABLE 4. NITRATE CONCENTRATIONS IN SOMERSET COUNTY PUBLIC WATER UTILITIES (2018 AND 2019)20TABLE 4. NITRATE CONCENTRATIONS IN SOMERSET COUNTY PUBLIC WATER UTILITIES (2018 AND 2019)20TABLE 4. NITRATE CONCENTRATIONS IN SOMERSET COUNTY PUBLIC WATER UTILITIES (2018 AND 2019)20TABLE 4. NITRATE CONCENTRATIONS IN SOMERSET COUNTY PUBLIC WATER UTILITIES (2018 AND 2019)20TABLE 4. NITRATE CONCENTRATIONS IN SOMERSET COUNTY PUBLIC WATER UTILITIES (2018 AND 2019)20TABLE 4. NAP OF WORCESTER AND WICOMICO COUNTY PRIVATE WELL SAMPLES21PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS FOR THE LOWER EASTERN SHORE22FIGURE 5: MARYLAND ALL CANCER SITES INCIDENCE RATES BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA: COMPARISON TO U.S.RATE, 2008-201223
STATE ACTION
THE LANDSCAPE OF STATE LAWS AND RULES GOVERNING PRIVATE WELLS 25 TABLE 5. REVIEW OF PROTECTIVE STATE POLICIES GOVERNING PRIVATE WELLS 29 FIGURE 6. PRIVATE WELL PROTECTION RANKINGS BY STATE 30
RECOMMENDATIONS
APPENDIX
TABLE 6. STATE REGULATIONS AND LAWS BEYOND THE SAFE DRINKING WATER ACT
ENDNOTES

Tainted Tap:

Nitrate Pollution, Factory Farms, and Drinking Water in Maryland and Beyond

Executive Summary

Nitrates are a toxic compound found in groundwater and surface waters, sometimes at unsafe levels. One of the major sources of nitrates is animal waste from industrial agriculture operations. On Maryland's Lower Eastern Shore, the number of concentrated animal feeding operations (CAFOs) has proliferated in recent years. Over-application or mismanagement of nitrogen-rich manure can cause nitrates to leach into the groundwater that Lower Eastern Shore residents rely on for drinking water, with serious implications for public health. Nitrate pollution has been linked to cancer, thyroid disease, and neonatal health issues, including a condition fatal to infants.

CPR researchers acquired sample well water testing data in two out of three Lower Eastern Shore counties and reviewed annual reports on water quality at public water utilities in the three counties. Based on our analysis of the available data, here are some of the ways that nitrate pollution may be harming Marylanders on the Lower Eastern Shore:

- Wicomico and Worcester counties have detected nitrates at levels exceeding the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) safe drinking water threshold in roughly one out of every 25 private drinking water wells. An additional one out of 14 wells had nitrate concentrations just below EPA's threshold, which public health research suggests may be hazardous to people's health.
- While the majority of residents on the Lower Eastern Shore appear to rely on private wells, between 2018 and 2020, one public water utility reported nitrate levels above EPA's threshold, and more than half of the public water utilities that reported nitrate concentrations had levels just below the threshold. Several water utilities did not report nitrate levels or reported nitrate levels from samples collected in previous years, painting a troubling and incomplete picture of nitrate contamination in public water supplies in the region.
- Based on our sample of well testing data and annual water quality reports for public utilities, CPR estimates that at least 61,000 people in Wicomico and Worcester counties (more than a third of the counties' estimated population) may have been or are being exposed to nitrate

levels that may be hazardous to health. Somerset County's well sampling and testing data was incomplete and in some cases unreadable. Additional investigation is necessary to determine the extent of nitrate pollution in the county.

• Public health data reveal that disease incidence rates associated with nitrate consumption are higher in Lower Eastern Shore counties than in other regions in the state.

These findings are troubling on their own, but they raise larger questions. What *don't* we know about nitrate contamination in private wells and public water sources on the Lower Eastern Shore? Are health hazards lurking just beneath the surface, unknown and unaddressed because of a lack of testing and transparency?

In reviewing protective policies and programs states have adopted to protect the drinking water of private well owners, Maryland ranked among the five worst states. Public information regarding the safety of Maryland well water is very limited, and county records are often outdated, incomplete, or do not contain basic information, such as the year the well was drilled and tested. Private wells in Maryland are only required to be tested and recorded at the time they are drilled — regardless of how long the well has been used for drinking water or whether there may be new sources of potential contamination threatening the health and safety of those drinking well water. The state does not (a) provide online access to well data information, (b) notify private well owners of known groundwater contamination nearby, (c) offer financial assistance for well remediation or well water testing, and (d) require landlords and property owners to disclose recent well water quality results to tenants or potential home buyers. The state also does not require laboratories that regularly analyze well water samples to share test results with local county health departments. Like all other states, Maryland does not require periodic testing of private well water.

Furthermore, the Safe Drinking Water Act, the primary federal law governing the health of the nation's drinking water, does not extend its protections to private drinking water wells and smaller community-based systems. As a result, approximately 42 million people in the United States rely on unregulated drinking water, primarily from private wells, while an estimated 19.5 million Americans fall ill each year from drinking contaminated water. While the Safe Drinking Water Act allows states to adopt stronger protections for local drinking water, state requirements concerning drinking water wells vary dramatically and often do not provide necessary protections for residents who rely on well water. For instance, 46 of the 50 states do not have basic rules in place to protect tenants who drink well water in apartments or rented commercial properties. Forty-five states do not provide notice to private well owners who may be impacted by known groundwater contamination. Thirty-eight

While lawsuits and federal enforcement of laws like the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and the Clean Water Act might supplement a regulatory system specifically designed to protect drinking water, they are no substitute for that system. States particularly states with nitrate problems—should develop those protections now. states do not require homeowners to disclose recent well water quality test results to potential homebuyers. Half of states require initial water quality testing at the time a well is drilled and constructed. Only 17 states offer free or low-cost water test kits to residents who drink well water, and only a handful have well remediation programs. Maryland's Lower Eastern Shore is a case study in these problems. Despite issues with nitrate contamination and heavy reliance on private wells, Maryland has not implemented any programs to mitigate the public health hazards of nitrate consumption in drinking water on the Eastern Shore.

While lawsuits and federal enforcement of laws like the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and the Clean Water Act might supplement a regulatory system specifically designed to protect drinking water, they are no

substitute for that system. States—particularly states with nitrate problems—should develop those protections now.

To better protect the health of the nearly 182,000 residents of the Lower Eastern Shore, the Maryland state legislature should enact legislation that would:

- Establish safe drinking water standards for private wells and smaller community systems that are not covered by the Safe Drinking Water Act;
- Require the Maryland Department of Health or Maryland Department of the Environment to implement a well compensation program that helps cover the costs of well water testing, sampling and analysis, along with any needed remediation or replacement due to contaminated drinking water, prioritizing funding for low-income residents;
- Require property owners wishing to sell their homes to test well water quality within six months of sale and disclose well water test results to potential buyers;
- Require landlords to test well water quality on leased property every three to five years and inform tenants of the results;
- Publish all water quality testing results for private wells on a public online portal operated by state and local health departments, and require regular information-sharing between relevant state and local agencies and state-approved laboratories;

- Work with relevant state agencies and local county health departments to engage in outreach and public education, encouraging residents to test their water annually and educating them about the availability of financial assistance;
- Create a well surveillance and sampling program requiring relevant agencies to sample well water and collect well water quality testing data from local health departments, notify private well owners of suspected groundwater contamination nearby, and publish updated information about areas of known or suspected groundwater contamination;
- Ensure all public water utilities test for and report nitrate levels annually in Consumer Confidence Reports, and ensure most recent reports are publicly available;
- Require farms in areas with known or suspected groundwater contamination to implement best management practices to minimize the leaching of nitrate to groundwater; and
- Establish a statewide moratorium on new and expanding CAFOs.

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency should:

- Complete an updated review on the relationship between nitrate consumption and adverse health outcomes, either through an Integrated Risk Information System health assessment, or by other means, and then update the safe drinking water thresholds, or "Maximum Contaminant Level," for nitrates accordingly; and
- Work with states to establish stronger, more protective safe drinking water thresholds for nitrates based on the latest research regarding adverse health effects.

In addition, policy and public health advocates can:

• Develop model legislation for states and litigation theory under state and federal law to hold CAFOs accountable for spreading animal waste on fields in amounts that pollute drinking water sources, whether private or public.

Tainted Tap:

Nitrate Pollution, Factory Farms, and Drinking Water in Maryland and Beyond

Introduction

Nitrates are a colorless, odorless, and tasteless compound¹ that, if ingested in excessive quantities, can pose a serious threat to public health. They are formed by soil microorganisms breaking down nitrogen from fertilizer, manure, or decaying plants.² While they occur naturally in the environment, nitrates are also produced by agricultural activity, specifically, the massive quantities of manure generated by factory farms.

Concentrated animal feeding operations (CAFOs) are a leading source of nitrates. These operations produce industrial-sized amounts of manure; a single CAFO raising 82,000 laying hens, for instance, can produce 2,800 tons of manure a year, more than three times the amount produced

CAFOs are a leading source of nitrates. These operations produce industrial-sized amounts of manure, more than three times the amount produced by the Maryland Zoo in Baltimore each year. Most manure from CAFOs never undergoes sewage treatment; instead it is typically applied to fields in solid, slurry, or liquid form. by the Maryland Zoo in Baltimore each year.^{3,4} Most manure from CAFOs never undergoes sewage treatment; instead it is typically applied to fields in solid, slurry, or liquid form.^{5,6} The most common form of disposal is directly on top of soil.⁷ While some of this manure serves as fertilizer, it is often applied in concentrations far greater than is needed to grow crops—that is, more than crops can absorb.⁸ CAFOs have other vectors for nitrate pollution, as well, including improper management and storage of manure or leaks in storage or containment units. Since nitrates are highly mobile in soil, all of these disposal methods cause nitrates to enter groundwater, where rainfall or irrigation water percolates through the subsurface.⁹

Groundwater contamination can pollute drinking water for many Americans. The National Groundwater Association estimates that 38 percent of the U.S. population relies on groundwater for its drinking water supply, ¹⁰ and an estimated 42 million people in the country rely primarily on drinking water from private wells.¹¹ The U.S. Geological Survey's (USGS) National Water Quality Assessment sampled groundwater aquifers used as public and private drinking water supplies from 1988 to 2015. USGS found that nitrate levels in groundwater under agricultural land were three times greater than the national background level of 1 milligram per liter (mg/L).¹² They also found that nitrate concentrations in 3 percent of public supply wells and 7 percent of private wells exceeded 10 mg/L.¹³ Private wells in agricultural areas exceeded that level at a rate of more than three times the national

level, with 21 percent of private wells reporting nitrate levels higher than 10 mg/L.¹⁴ Furthermore, in 2009, USGS sampled 2,167 private wells across the country and found that 23 percent had at least one contaminant at concentrations greater than health-based standards.¹⁵ Nitrate was one of the more common contaminants identified, particularly in agricultural areas. In 2019, in light of the various public health concerns associated with CAFOs—including nitrates in drinking water—the American Public Health Association published a policy statement in support of moratoriums on new and expanding CAFOs.¹⁶



Figure 1: Predicted Concentrations of Nitrate in U.S. Groundwater

Predicted nitrate concentrations in U.S. groundwater show that nitrate concentrations greater than 5 mg/L are prevalent in Maryland. Source: <u>U.S. Geological Survey</u>.

Nitrates in Drinking Water Harm Public Health

Nitrates can pose a significant risk to public health when people drink contaminated water. Nitrate consumption has been linked to blue baby syndrome, cancer, pregnancy complications, thyroid disease, and more.

Because of these dangers, nitrates are regulated under the Safe Drinking Water Act. Congress enacted the Safe Drinking Water Act in 1974 as the primary federal law to ensure the safety of public drinking water at a time when nationwide studies revealed widespread health risks due to poor water quality.¹⁷ While the Safe Drinking Water Act's requirements and protections extend to both groundwater and surface water sources of drinking water, the law only applies to drinking water systems with at least 15 service connections or that provide service for at least 25 individuals.¹⁸ Smaller drinking water systems, private wells, and systems without collection and treatment facilities are not protected by the law.¹⁹

In 1962, the federal government established a drinking water limit for nitrates, known as the Maximum Contaminant Level ("safe drinking water")

A 2019 study from the Environmental Working Group found that up to 12,594 cases of cancer per year may be linked to nitrate pollution in U.S. drinking water. Approximately 80 percent of the estimated cases were colorectal cancer, and the others were ovarian, thyroid, kidney, and bladder cancer. threshold"), of 10 mg/L (or parts per million, ppm).²⁰ This was based on an earlier study of drinking water sources for 278 reported cases of methemoglobinemia, or blue baby syndrome.²¹ Though the Safe Drinking Water Act requires the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to set enforceable drinking water standards and reassess them every six years,²² the agency has never updated the safe drinking water threshold for nitrates.

Blue baby syndrome was long considered the primary risk from nitrate consumption. This condition can affect infants under six months of age because ingested nitrate is more readily converted to nitrite in an infant's gastrointestinal tract, which can form methemoglobin that disrupts the blood's

oxygen carrying capacity, resulting in potentially fatal oxygen deprivation.²³ In the nearly 60 years since EPA's safe drinking water threshold for nitrate was established, cases of blue baby syndrome have been reported at concentrations below 10 mg/L.²⁴ Furthermore, a 2010 study of 357 pregnant women in rural Minnesota observed that methemoglobin levels at 36 weeks gestation were higher among women with 3 to 10 mg/L tap water nitrate levels compared to women with less than 3 mg/L of nitrate in their tap water.²⁵

Recent studies show a range of adverse health impacts from long-term nitrate consumption at levels below EPA's safe drinking water threshold, including links to cancer, neonatal health issues (such as neural tube defects), thyroid disease, and other conditions.²⁶ In some cases, these effects were observed at levels less than one-tenth of the current safe drinking water threshold. One study of postmenopausal women in Iowa found that ovarian cancer risk was 2.03 times greater for women consuming drinking water with nitrate levels greater than 2.98 mg/L, compared to those consuming concentrations below 0.47 mg/L.²⁷

A 2019 study from the Environmental Working Group (EWG) found that up to 12,594 cases of cancer per year may be linked to nitrate pollution in U.S. drinking water.²⁸ Approximately 80 percent of the estimated cases were colorectal cancer, and the others were ovarian, thyroid, kidney, and bladder cancer.²⁹ The cost of treating these cases was estimated to be up to \$1.5 billion a year.³⁰ The study also identified a link between nitrate pollution and neonatal health issues, primarily "very low birth weight" and "very preterm birth."³¹ Based on an analysis of eight studies related to nitrates in drinking water and colorectal cancer, EWG scientists found a one-in-a-million cancer risk (the typical benchmark for "acceptable" risk³²) at 0.14 mg/L—a level much lower than EPA's threshold. This level would also protect against adverse pregnancy and birth outcomes. Currently, more than 9,000 water utilities nationwide have average nitrate concentrations 10 times greater than EWG's calculated cancer risk level, and therefore likely pose a significant nitrate-related cancer risk.³³ It must also be noted that EWG's cancer risk estimate is lower than background levels for nitrates (1 mg/L), suggesting that all groundwater conveys some degree of cancer risk.

Boiling or chemically disinfecting water does not remove nitrates; removing them requires costlier technologies such as ion exchange, distillation, or reverse osmosis, which may be out of reach for many homeowners and even some public water utilities.³⁴ At least 1,155 public water systems in the United States have average nitrate levels at or above 5 mg/L, and they have no treatment system in place to reduce or remove the contaminants.³⁵

Nitrates also increase drinking water treatment costs. For example, an economic analysis of nitrate treatment in the Mississippi Basin found that annual operation and maintenance costs at water treatment plants were positively correlated with nitrate contamination.³⁶ Expenses for several plants in the region peaked during the same year as the highest recorded nitrate levels. On average, water utilities in Decatur, Illinois and Des Moines, lowa spent 1.3 percent and 3.4 percent of their annual operating budget on nitrate treatment, respectively.³⁷ Those values increased during the years when nitrate concentrations were greatest. For example, over a six-year period, the Des Moines utility spent more than \$500,000 on average per year on operations and maintenance.³⁸ However, in 2015, the region had the highest recorded annual average nitrate concentrations and highest number of days when water at intake locations exceeded EPA's safe drinking water threshold for nitrates. That year, operations and maintenance costs were in excess of \$1.4 million.

Tainted Tap

Since nitrate treatment is expensive, many utilities choose to first blend water from multiple sources to dilute the nitrate or simply eliminate contaminated water sources.³⁹ For small public water systems, the most cost-effective option is sometimes to drill a new well, but this may not be a feasible solution if nitrate contamination is widespread. Where water quality issues persist, the utility may connect to another system or consolidate multiple small systems into a larger utility that can afford adequate treatment technology.⁴⁰ One assessment of nitrate contamination in Nebraska found that reverse osmosis at point-of-use—that is, at the user's location—is the most cost-effective treatment method for three- to fourperson households.⁴¹ Overall, however, these solutions place much of the burden of treating nitrates not on the industries that create it, but rather on local water utilities and homeowners, which can be costlier and more resource-intensive than upstream interventions to address agricultural sources of pollution.⁴² This downstream approach can also result in disparate impacts on low-income families who cannot afford household treatment.

While EWG's cancer risk level for drinking water nitrates may be impractical for all public utilities to achieve with existing resources, state agencies and public health experts agree that the current safe drinking water threshold of

Overall, these solutions place much of the burden of treating nitrates not on the industries that create it, but rather on local water utilities and homeowners, which can be costlier and more resource-intensive than upstream interventions to address agricultural sources of pollution. This downstream approach can also result in disparate impacts on lowincome families who cannot afford household treatment. 10 mg/L is not adequately protective.⁴³ The Maryland Geological Survey, Minnesota Department of Health, and Oregon Department of Environmental Quality posit that nitrate levels greater than 3 mg/L indicate that water is contaminated by human-made sources and may worsen over time.^{44,45,46} Furthermore, as discussed above, research shows that risks of blue baby syndrome and cancer are distinctly elevated at drinking water nitrate concentrations above 3 mg/L. A more stringent standard would benefit families who rely on public water systems, but without legislative changes, private well owners remain responsible for monitoring and addressing well water quality on their own.

Finally, nitrate contamination contributes to other environmental and public health harms. Runoff and groundwater discharges convey nitrogen-laden water directly into surface waterways, promoting algae blooms, which

can create oxygen-depleted conditions that harm or kill fish, dolphins, and other aquatic life.⁴⁷ For example, in recent years, a growing proportion of the Chesapeake Bay has been deemed a "dead zone" (8 percent in 2019, compared to 6 percent in 2014).⁴⁸ Algae blooms can also be toxic to humans.⁴⁹ While toxic algae blooms are not the focus of this report, it is important to note that efforts to address the sources of nitrate contamination can pay other dividends for public health and the environment.

The Safe Drinking Water Act Lacks Private Well Water Protections

While the EPA has broad authority to set specific standards for contaminants in public drinking water under the Safe Drinking Water Act, a majority of drinking water oversight happens at the state level.⁵⁰ Every state other than

The Safe Drinking Water Act does not protect smaller drinking water systems, private wells, and systems without collection and treatment facilities. As a result, approximately 42 million people in the United States rely on unregulated drinking water, primarily from private wells, while an estimated 19.5 million Americans fall ill each year from drinking contaminated water. Wyoming and Washington, D.C. (treated as a state for this purpose), has been delegated primary enforcement and oversight authority for public water systems under the law.⁵¹ EPA may withdraw that delegation at any time if a state fails to comply with Safe Drinking Water Act requirements.⁵² The Safe Drinking Water Act also requires that states adopt a Source Water Assessment Program to identify potential sources of contamination for drinking water.⁵³ States must ensure the public water suppliers issue annual Consumer Confidence Reports to educate the public about local drinking water guality, including contaminants that exceed EPA's safe drinking water thresholds and any other violations of the law. This transparency requirement is key, as many states do not devote the needed funding for adequate enforcement and compliance with the Safe Drinking Water Act.⁵⁴ The

federal government offers funding to improve water treatment and compliance through the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund, which has provided more than \$26 billion in grants and loans since 1997. But the EPA estimates that a total of \$384 billion is needed through 2030 to upgrade outdated infrastructure for public water suppliers.⁵⁵

As noted earlier, the Safe Drinking Water Act does not protect smaller drinking water systems, private wells, and systems without collection and treatment facilities.⁵⁶ As a result, approximately 42 million people in the United States rely on unregulated drinking water, primarily from private wells,⁵⁷ while an estimated 19.5 million Americans fall ill each year from drinking contaminated water.⁵⁸ Since many private wells are supplied by groundwater, and water quality testing is not federally mandated for groundwater-sourced private wells, nitrate pollution is of greatest concern for families with self-supplied well water. Some states and counties have chosen to regulate private wells, but in many areas, individual well owners are on their own.

Maryland's Maximum Contaminant Level for contaminants in public drinking water, including nitrates, match EPA's safe drinking water thresholds. However, state regulations admit that the Maximum Contaminant Level for nitrates may not be based on potential adverse health effects due to long-term exposure, like all the other contaminants are. The regulations note that "[w]ith the exception of nitrate, nitrite, and total nitrate plus nitrite, all inorganic chemical contaminant levels are based on potential adverse health effects resulting from long-term exposure to the contaminant in drinking water..."⁵⁹ Maryland does require that private well water quality meet federal safe drinking water thresholds after initial drilling, but no subsequent testing is required, no matter how long the well is in use, and no matter what potential pollutants might have entered local groundwater since the initial drilling. No other Safe Drinking Water Act protections are extended to private wells in Maryland.

Contaminant	Maximum Contaminant Level (mg/l)
Antimony	0.006
Arsenic	0.010
Asbestos	7 million fibers per liter (longer than 10 μm)
Barium	2
Beryllium	0.004
Cadmium	0.005
Chromium	0.1
Cyanide (as free cyanide)	0.2
Flouride	4.0
Mercury	0.002
Nitrate as nitrogen	10
Nitrite as nitrogen	1
Total nitrate plus nitrite	10
Selenium	0.05
Thallium	0.002

Table 1. Maryland's Maximum Contaminant Levels for 15 DrinkingWater Contaminants Align with EPA's Limits

Source: Maryland Division of State Documents.

It is important to note that Maryland regulations also allow motels, hotels, medical facilities, restaurants, schools, industrial plants, and other similar facilities that are not connected to a community water system to supply water with nitrate levels that exceed 10 mg/L, but below 20 mg/L, at the discretion of the Maryland Department of Environment or another approving authority.⁶⁰ In such instances, the facility must demonstrate that the water is not available to children under six months of age, must post a warning sign listing nitrate levels and noting the potential health effects of exposure, demonstrate that "[a]dverse health effects do not result," and

notify the relevant county health department annually of the nitrate levels in its drinking water.⁶¹

In 2017, EPA published a plan to review the health effects of nitrate in drinking water⁶² and came close to updating its regulations that allow states to apply less stringent nitrate drinking water standards for non-community water systems. EPA's plan identified two activities: 1) considering an updated health assessment of nitrate in the next Six-Year Review cycle for National Primary Drinking Water regulations under the Safe Drinking Water Act, and 2) evaluating the National Primary Drinking Water regulations that allow, at the discretion of the state, a non-community water system to have nitrate levels exceeding 10 mg/L if the supplier demonstrates that the water will not be available for children under six months and the public and appropriate authorities are notified.⁶³ Unfortunately, in April 2019, the agency suspended plans to complete the review, citing a priority on assessments of greatest need and those "actively under development."⁶⁴

Nitrate Pollution in Maryland

Over the last decade, the number of CAFOs in Maryland has skyrocketed, with most located on the Lower Eastern Shore. In 2009, there were seven registered poultry operations in the state,⁶⁵ though there were likely more that were not registered or accounted for by state agencies through other means. Between 2014 and 2017, there was a dramatic increase in the number of CAFOs, with hundreds of additional operations brought online. As of October 1, 2020, the number of registered CAFOs had grown to 526, with the highest concentration in Wicomico (113), Worcester (96), and Somerset (87) counties.⁶⁶ Alongside Caroline County (located in the Upper Eastern Shore), these adjacent counties have the greatest number of CAFOs in the state, and each registered operation may be associated with multiple chicken houses. While groundwater nitrate can take decades to reach surface waters, nitrogen pollution from broiler chickens alone increased by almost 30 percent between 2009 and 2018 in Maryland's waterways.⁶⁷ This was due, in part, to the poultry boom and the excessive amounts of manure that came along with it.

Figure 2: Concentration of Poultry Houses in Pocomoke City and Surrounding Area



Source: <u>Google Earth (click for larger image</u>).

Maryland's political leaders have been reluctant to adopt the strong requirements needed to reduce agricultural pollution, instead relying largely on grant funding and measures designed to encourage, but not require, pollution-mitigating practices. For instance, in 1982, the state Department of

Tainted Tap

Agriculture established the Maryland Agricultural Water Quality Cost-Share (MACS) Program to offer farmers grants to install best management practices (BMPs) to "prevent soil erosion, manage nutrients, and safeguard water quality in streams, rivers, and the Chesapeake Bay."⁶⁸ This includes systems such as manure transport, waste treatment lagoons, and wastewater treatment strips. The MACS Program, adopted long before the poultry boom of the last decade, remains the cornerstone of the state's efforts to mitigate pollution from agriculture. While funding for the program has increased over time, it has unfortunately failed to prevent nitrogen pollution at levels needed to protect public health.

In order to comply with Maryland's Phosphorus Management Tool—another program seeking to mitigate the impacts of agriculture on Maryland's waters—data suggest that a significant amount of manure generated by farms on the Lower Eastern Shore is transported to other farms and "alternative use facilities." The 2019 MACS report shows that the tons of

As a result of the state's lackluster efforts to reduce nitrate pollution, Maryland is second only to neighboring Delaware, also burdened by CAFOs, in the percentage of the state's area with groundwater nitrate levels in excess of 5 mg/L. Twenty-eight percent of Maryland's square mileage has groundwater nitrate concentrations above that level. manure transported through the program has increased more than three-fold since 2010.⁶⁹ Clean Water Act regulations generally restrict the amount of manure applied within the boundaries of a CAFO, but they do not extend to land application of manure transported offsite.⁷⁰ A 2014 analysis by the Environmental Integrity Project found that CAFOs on the Eastern Shore ship up to 85 percent of their manure off-site.⁷¹ It also found that poultry operations in the region spread three times more manure on agricultural land than crops need.⁷² In 2019, Maryland enacted Senate Bill 546, which requires farms to include manure tracking information—such as how much is generated and where it is transported—in reports that farmers must submit each year to the state.⁷³ This will increase transparency around manure generation on the

Eastern Shore and give the public the ability to more accurately map out where manure may end up.

As a result of the state's lackluster efforts to reduce nitrate pollution, Maryland is second only to neighboring Delaware, also burdened by CAFOs, in the percentage of the state's area with groundwater nitrate levels in excess of 5 mg/L.⁷⁴ Twenty-eight percent of Maryland's square mileage has groundwater nitrate concentrations above that level.⁷⁵ Some of the highest nitrate levels in groundwater in the Chesapeake Bay watershed occur in the agricultural areas of the Eastern Shore.⁷⁶ In addition, nitrate concentrations in the Eastern Shore's unconfined shallow aquifer are far greater than what would be expected to occur naturally, often at levels "high enough to affect the suitability of the water for human consumption."⁷⁷ USGS studies estimate that 53 percent of nitrogen inputs to the Eastern Shore are applied in inorganic fertilizers or fixed directly from the atmosphere in crops, and an additional 37 percent is from manure, demonstrating that agriculture is the most significant contributor of nitrogen to the region.⁷⁸ While nitrate concentrations tend to be lower in deeper groundwater, USGS experts predict that these concentrations will likely increase as shallow groundwater moves downward.⁷⁹ They also note that potential contamination of deep aquifers warrants attention because these water sources are typically used for public water supply and restoration would be difficult and expensive.

Decades of nitrate contamination have also affected the region's surface waters, which are fed by groundwater discharges and surface runoff. Nitrate concentrations in the Choptank and Nanticoke rivers have steadily increased since the mid-1960s.⁸⁰ Modeling from the Chesapeake Bay Program estimates that 45 percent of the nitrogen loads to the Chesapeake Bay in 2019 were from agriculture; up from 41 percent in 2009.⁸¹ The program also estimates that poultry litter alone accounts for at least 12 percent of nitrogen in waterways on Maryland's Eastern Shore and that nitrate levels are three times greater than the average for streams outside this area.⁸² Since groundwater is slow-moving, experts predict that it would require at least a 40 percent reduction in nitrogen loads to groundwater on the Eastern Shore (from 2010 levels) to achieve the Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) target for the region by 2045 (20 years after the 2025 deadline established by the EPA and agreed to by Maryland and other Chesapeake Bay states).⁸³

Analysis of Eastern Shore Drinking Water Data and Public Health Implications

Between 13 and 19 percent of Maryland residents rely on private wells for household water consumption, and most of them are located in the rural, agricultural parts of the state, including the Lower Eastern Shore.^{84,85,86} We were unable to find any recent studies of drinking water nitrate contamination in the region, but a 2018 study by University of Maryland researchers assessed private well water quality from 118 households in Montgomery, Cecil, Kent, and Queen Anne's counties (the latter three are on the Eastern Shore and all have CAFOs). The researchers found that 3.4 percent of samples exceeded 10 mg/L.⁸⁷

To understand the extent of nitrate contamination on the Lower Eastern Shore, CPR researchers assessed water quality in private wells and public water utilities in Wicomico, Worcester, and Somerset counties. While the state does not require or conduct periodic testing of private wells, counties test water quality when issuing permits for new wells or when a well's use is converted, such as from agricultural to household use.

CPR researchers submitted Maryland Public Information Act (PIA) requests to county agencies for private well water data and received varying degrees of information based on how the data is stored and limited staff capacity in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic. We obtained comprehensive well data

from Worcester County and a sample of data from Wicomico and Somerset counties. Wicomico and Somerset counties shared well data from up to two properties per tax map in the county. Tax maps, also known as parcel maps, are a geographic representation of individual property boundaries, and each map contains various parcels of property.⁸⁸ CPR requested that the two properties be randomly selected, but we were unable to oversee or participate in the selection process due to COVID-19 restrictions. In addition, CPR researchers acquired the most current information on public water systems from annual Consumer Confidence Reports (CCRs), which are publicly available. According to EPA's CCR database, all of the public water systems in the three counties draw from groundwater.⁸⁹CCRs for smaller community systems, like cooperatives and privately owned mobile home parks, were not included in the county-by-county analysis but notable findings for mobile home parks are summarized below.

Given the latest scientific evidence and statements by various state agencies, we considered two categories of risk: nitrate concentrations between 3 and 10 mg/L, which evidence indicates "may be or become hazardous to health," and concentrations above 10 mg/L, which are "very likely hazardous to health."

Wicomico County

The Wicomico County Health Department provided CPR with well permit and water quality testing data from up to two properties per tax map in the county. From 129 well samples collected between December 1981 and July 2020, 5 percent had nitrate concentrations between 3 and 10 mg/L, and 2 percent were above 10 mg/L. The highest recorded nitrate concentration was 44.7 mg/L, sampled in 2015.

Wicomico County was the only county to also have publicly available information about nitrate contamination in private wells, in the form of a static map that is posted on the health department's website (Figure 3).⁹⁰ There is no accompanying narrative explaining how many wells were tested total, why they were tested, and what, if anything, was done to address contamination. Figure 3 shows that at least 39 wells tested between 2008 and 2014 had nitrate concentrations above 8 mg/L (shown as ppm).⁹¹ An additional 42 wells had nitrate concentrations above 10 mg/L.⁹² Since we only received a sample of well data as a result of our request to the county health department, this map provides additional, albeit incomplete, data demonstrating that at least 81 wells tested within the last decade contain hazardous levels of nitrates.

Figure 3: Wicomico County Wells Tested Between 2008 and 2014 with Nitrate Concentrations Greater than 8 mg/L (shown as ppm)



Source: Wicomico County Health Department.

Water and sewerage in Wicomico County are managed independently by eight municipalities through the county's Comprehensive Water and Sewerage Plan.⁹³ Seven of these municipalities have a public water system and together serve 44,837 residents (approximately 43 percent of the county's estimated population).^{94,95} Table 2 presents the highest nitrate concentrations detected in each of the water utilities in 2018 (2019 reports were not yet available for analysis).⁹⁶ Of the seven water utilities, five reported nitrate levels in their CCRs. Of those that reported nitrate concentrations, four (Delmar, Fruitland, Salisbury, and Sharptown) had levels exceeding 3 mg/L.

Service Area	Estimated Population Served	Level Detected (mg/L)**	Range Detected (mg/L)
Delmar	4,500	3.1	Not reported
Fruitland	5,907	4.0	3.2-4.5
Hebron	1,022	Not reported	Not reported
Pittsville	1,500	Not reported	Not reported
Salisbury	30,343	6.0	4.6-6.0
Sharptown	625	9.0	8.0-10.3
Willards	940	1.3	Not reported

Table 2. Nitrate Concentrations in Wicomico County Public WaterUtilities (2018)*

*Nitrate levels that exceed EPA's Maximum Contaminant Level (10 mg/L) are "very likely hazardous to health"; levels between 3 and 10 mg/L "may be or become hazardous to health." ** Utilities either presented the average or the highest level detected. Source: EPA Consumer Confidence Reports database, Wicomico County Consumer Confidence Reports, via the Maryland Department of the Environment.

As shown in Table 2, Sharptown reported 9 mg/L as the detected nitrate level, but the data range shows that the highest detected concentration exceeds EPA's safe drinking water threshold. Notably, every public water utility that reported nitrate levels had concentrations that exceed background levels for nitrates (1 mg/L). Furthermore, using EWG's cancer risk level, nitrate concentrations of 3 mg/L correspond to approximately 2 cases per 100,000. This is the minimum estimated cancer risk facing residents in the four service areas that had nitrate levels above 3 mg/L.

Worcester County

The Worcester County Department of Environmental Programs provided CPR researchers with a complete database of well permit and water quality testing data from private wells in the county. A small number of wells in the database (less than 50) were tested more than once; therefore, we refer to the results as "well samples."

Our analysis of 9,243 well samples collected between November 1965 and May 2020 found that 9 percent had nitrate concentrations between 3 to 10 mg/L, and 5 percent were above 10 mg/L. The highest recorded nitrate concentration was 136 mg/L, nearly 14 times greater than EPA's safe drinking water threshold. Using EWG's cancer risk estimate, this exposure level corresponds to nearly one case per 1,000, which is an order of magnitude greater than EPA Office of Water's Drinking Water Specific Risk Level Concentration for cancer of one per 10,000.⁹⁷ In other words, this level far exceeds what EPA considers an acceptable cancer risk from a drinking water contaminant. The county also provided CPR with data on well depth, which showed that shallower wells had higher nitrate concentrations, on average. The average depth of wells with nitrate concentrations of 10 mg/L or greater was 71.2 feet, compared to 136.3 feet for wells with nitrate levels between 0 and 10 mg/L. These findings align with previous research that shows an inverse relationship between well depth and nitrate concentrations.⁹⁸

Service Area	Estimated Population Served	Year	Highest Level Detected (mg/L)	Range Detected (mg/L)
Berlin	4,500	2020	Not available	Not available
		2019	5.6	3.9-5.6
Briddletown	150	2020	5.6	3.9-5.6
		2019	6.0	3.6-5.5
Edgewater Acres/	500	2020	Not reported	Not reported
Nantucket Point		2019	Not reported	Not reported
Mystic	3,600	2020	Not reported	Not reported
Harbour/Landings/ Assateague Point		2019	<1.0	<1.0
Newark	250	2020	Not reported	Not reported
		2019	<1.0	<1.0
Ocean City	7,000	2020	Not available	Not available
		2019	Not reported	Not reported
Ocean Pines	11,890	2020	6.0	1.8-6.4
		2019	6.0	1.8-6.4
Pocomoke City	4,100	2020	Not available	Not available
		2019	Not available	Not available
Riddle Farm	600	2020	6.0	1.8-6.4
		2019	<1.0	<1.0
Snow Hill	2,409	2020	Not available	Not available
		2019	Not available	Not available

Table 3. Nitrate Concentrations in Worcester County Public Water Utilities (2019 and 2020)*

*Nitrate levels that exceed EPA's Maximum Contaminant Level (10 mg/L) are "very likely hazardous to health"; levels between 3 and 10 mg/L "may be or become hazardous to health." ** Utilities either presented the average or the highest level detected. Source: <u>EPA</u> <u>Consumer Confidence Reports database</u>, <u>Worcester County Drinking Water Quality Reports</u>.

Water utilities in the county are managed by the Worcester County Department of Public Works' Water and Wastewater Division. The county manages six service areas and an additional four municipalities (Berlin, Ocean City, Pocomoke City, and Snow Hill) independently operate their utilities. Together these ten utilities serve a total of 34,999 residents (approximately 67 percent of the county's estimated population).^{99,100} Table 3 shows the nitrate levels in each public water utility in 2019 and 2020.¹⁰¹ The highest nitrate concentrations detected in Berlin, Briddletown, Ocean Pines, and Riddle Farm in 2019 and/or 2020 were all greater than 3 mg/L. Nitrates were not reported, not detected, or reports were not available in the remaining six service areas.

Somerset County

The Somerset County Health Department provided CPR with well permit and water quality testing data from up to two properties per tax map in the county. We received files for 127 wells, but several did not have an associated water analysis, or the files were so old that the text was unreadable. From 99 files that included the water analysis (samples collected between June 1979 and July 2020), all reported nitrate levels below 0.8 mg/L.

The county's public water utilities are managed by the Somerset County Sanitary District, which oversees three service areas.¹⁰² The three public water utilities in the county together serve 7,026 people (approximately 27 percent of the county's estimated population).^{103,104} Nitrate levels for 2018 and 2019 are shown in Table 4. In Fairmount and Princess Anne, nitrates were not detected, and Crisfield did not report nitrate concentrations.

Service Area	Estimated Population Served	Year	Level Detected (mg/L)
Crisfield	2,976	2019	Not reported
		2018	Not reported
Fairmount	750	2019	Not detected
		2018	Not detected
Princess Anne	3,300	2019	Not detected
		2018	Not detected

Table 4. Nitrate Concentrations in Somerset County Public WaterUtilities (2018 and 2019)

Source: EPA Consumer Confidence Reports database, Somerset County Sanitary District.

Nitrate Contamination in Private Wells and Public Utilities on the Lower Eastern Shore

According to our analysis of the well data acquired from CPR's information requests, 7 percent of private wells sampled between November 1965 and July 2020 in Wicomico and Worcester counties had nitrate levels between 3 and 10 mg/L, and 3.5 percent were above 10 mg/L, on average. In other words, roughly one out of ten private wells sampled in the two counties had nitrate concentrations of 3 mg/L or above, a level that may be or already is hazardous to health. Figure 4 provides a visual representation of where wells

with nitrate levels between 3 and 10 mg/L and above 10 mg/L in Wicomico and Worcester counties are or were located, as some wells may no longer be in use. As CPR researchers acquire additional data, the map will be updated and available on our website at <u>www.progressivereform.org</u>.



Figure 4: Map of Worcester and Wicomico County Private Well Samples

Source: Data for map acquired from the Wicomico County Health Department and the Worcester County Department of Environmental Programs.

As noted, records provided by the Somerset County Health Department showed that all wells had nitrate levels below 0.8 mg/L. However, the sample of data provided by the county was incomplete and given the extent of contamination in the adjacent counties, additional investigation is necessary regarding nitrate pollution in Somerset County.

While in recent years counties have implemented short-term strategies, such as drilling deeper wells, to access less contaminated groundwater, 7 percent of wells sampled between 2015 and 2019 in Wicomico and Worcester counties still had nitrate levels of 3 mg/L or above. Our researchers were unable to obtain information on the number of people served by each well, but based on our sample of data and assuming two people per household, approximately 1,616 people had wells with nitrate levels between 3 and 10 mg/L and 834 had wells with nitrate levels above 10 mg/L. Data on public water usage in Lower Eastern Shore counties suggest that the majority of residents in the region rely on private drinking water wells for household use.

Of the 20 public water utilities assessed on Maryland's Lower Eastern Shore, seven did not report nitrate levels in their most recently available CCR. It is unclear why this information was omitted, whether because nitrate was undetected, a sample was not collected, or another reason. Among the 13 utilities that did report nitrate levels at least once between 2018 and 2020, eight had concentrations exceeding 3 mg/L (all were in Wicomico and Worcester counties). These eight utilities serve approximately 58,515 people, representing nearly a third of the Lower Eastern Shore population. The Sharptown public utility in Wicomico County also reported a range of nitrate levels that exceeded 10 mg/L. Notably, some public utilities reported samples collected in the same year of the CCR, some in the year prior, and some reported nitrate levels from samples collected two years prior. Furthermore, we were unable to find CCRs from 2019 or 2020 for all public utilities in Wicomico County, as well as Pocomoke City and Snow Hill in Worcester County. Finally, while we did not include mobile home parks in the county-by-county analysis, it is of note that of 18 private mobile home parks in the three counties (together serve approximately 2,443 people), 12 failed to report nitrate levels and five reported nitrate levels between 3 and 10 mg/L in their latest CCRs.

While CPR researchers were only able to obtain a sample of well data from Wicomico and Somerset counties, these findings suggest that Lower Eastern Shore residents, especially private well owners and those who do not have reverse osmosis or other treatment technologies in place, may be exposed to harmful levels of nitrates. Moreover, the findings raise larger questions. What *don't* we know about nitrate contamination in private wells and public water sources on the Lower Eastern Shore? Are health hazards lurking just beneath the surface, unknown and unaddressed because of a lack of testing and transparency? More research is necessary to understand the full scope of contamination, especially in residential wells currently in use.

Public Health Implications for the Lower Eastern Shore

The elevated levels of nitrates found in drinking water in Lower Eastern Shore counties should raise concerns about public health hazards. As noted earlier, nitrate consumption has been linked to various illnesses, some of them fatal. According to the Environmental Working Group's 2019 study, the maximum number of cancer cases attributable to nitrate contamination in public water systems in Maryland is estimated at 8.1 per 100,000 people.¹⁰⁵ Neighboring Delaware had the highest attributable cases of any state in the country, at 17 per 100,000 people. While cancer incidence is related to a variety of social, economic, and environmental factors, Wicomico County had the highest age-adjusted cancer incidence rate in the state at 537.5 cases per 100,000 between 2013 and 2017.¹⁰⁶ This significantly exceeds the statewide cancer incidence rate of 453.8 cases per 100,000 (Somerset and Worcester counties ranked fifth and sixth, also exceeding the statewide rate). Colorectal cancer, which is associated with nitrate consumption, also appears to be more prevalent in Eastern Shore counties where there is significant agricultural activity. Colorectal cancer rates among adults over 50 years of age in Somerset and Wicomico counties are greater than the statewide incidence rate of 111.1 cases per 100,000 between 2013 and 2017.¹⁰⁷

Figure 5: Maryland All Cancer Sites Incidence Rate by Geographical Area: Comparison to U.S. Rate, 2008-2012



Maryland's Comprehensive Cancer Control Plan 2016-2020 shows that cancer incidence rates between 2008 to 2012 were 10 to 25 percent greater in Lower Eastern Shore counties compared to the United States as a whole. Source: <u>Maryland</u> <u>Department of Health.</u>

Neonatal health issues are also of concern in Lower Eastern Shore counties. In 2017, the infant mortality rate was highest in Somerset, Worcester, and Wicomico counties, at 41.2, 12.6, and 10.9 per 1,000 live births, respectively, compared to the statewide infant mortality rate of 6.5 per 1,000 live births.¹⁰⁸ According to the Maryland Department of Health, the two identified leading causes of infant death in 2017 were low birth weight and congenital abnormalities, which are also associated with nitrate consumption.¹⁰⁹

Infant mortality does, to some degree, appear to be related to poverty, however mortality rates are still greater in Lower Eastern Shore counties compared to areas of the state with similar poverty rates and no poultry CAFOs. For example, between 2013 to 2017, average infant mortality rates

Tainted Tap

were greater in Somerset County (18.1 per 1,000 births, 22.5 percent poverty in 2017) compared to Baltimore City (9.3 per 1,000 live births, 22.4 percent

Of the nine counties on Maryland's Eastern Shore, Somerset and Wicomico (in addition to Dorchester) have the highest proportion of Black residents, suggesting that the adverse impacts of nitrate pollution could widen existing health disparities borne of systemic racism. poverty in 2017).^{110,111} Similarly, in Worcester County (11.3 per 1,000 live births, 10.3 percent poverty in 2017), average infant mortality rates were greater than in Garrett County (9.6 per 1,000 live births, 11.4 percent poverty in 2017), a rural county on the western side of the state. Caroline County, which also has a large number of CAFOs, has a lower infant mortality rate during this time period; however, this may be because the state has specifically directed efforts to address the issue in the county.¹¹² Unfortunately, there is no requirement to report cases of blue baby syndrome, so it is unclear how prevalent this condition is.

Nitrate pollution may also disproportionately harm lowerincome families that may not be able to afford costly water treatment systems. The proportion of people living in poverty is greater in Somerset, Wicomico, and Worcester counties compared to the state as a whole.¹¹³ Furthermore, of the nine counties on Maryland's Eastern Shore, Somerset and Wicomico (in addition to Dorchester) have the highest proportion of Black residents,¹¹⁴ suggesting that the adverse impacts of nitrate pollution could widen existing health disparities borne of systemic racism. These findings align with previous studies that found that communities with a higher percentage of Black and poor residents also have a greater proportion of CAFOS.^{115,116} Further research and analysis is required to determine the degree to which nitrates contribute to adverse health outcomes and who is most impacted.

State Action

The Landscape of State Laws and Rules Governing Private Wells

The Safe Drinking Water Act allows states to adopt stronger laws, standards, and regulations to protect local drinking water. While every state has adopted regulations or laws governing the drilling and construction of new water wells, state requirements concerning private drinking water wells vary dramatically.

- Almost all states have policies governing the design and potential abandonment of residential wells.¹¹⁷
- Every state except for Alaska, Georgia, and Rhode Island requires notice, registration or permitting of newly constructed private wells.
- Forty-one states provide free, online access to private well data records and information.
- Thirty-seven states have adopted some form of groundwater protection program or have extended safe drinking water thresholds to groundwater either directly or indirectly benefiting private well owners.
- Twenty-five states require initial water quality testing at the time a well is drilled and constructed; twenty-four states require basic well maintenance, which does not include any type of mandated well water quality testing.¹¹⁸
- Seventeen states offer free or low-cost water quality tests for private well owners.
- Thirteen states have water quality disclosure rules governing the transfer or sale of a property that contains a private drinking well.
- Nine states offer private well owners financial or one-on-one technical assistance with well remediation for contaminated wells.
- Five states require relevant agencies to notify private well owners who may be impacted by known groundwater contamination.
- No state requires regular water quality testing for private wells, nor has any state adopted a more stringent standard for nitrates in municipal or private well drinking water.

That said, some counties have adopted stronger rules for well construction and maintenance or provide greater financial assistance for well water testing. For instance, Worcester County in New York requires well testing and disclosure before the sale of any property that contains a residential well.¹¹⁹ Suffolk County, New York, offers a comprehensive well water testing program and provides low-cost test kits for residents.¹²⁰ Johnson County, lowa, has stricter setback requirements for wells from sources of pollution.¹²¹

Residential wells in Maryland are largely governed by the Maryland Department of the Environment (MDE) and local county health departments. Requirements include basic parameters on construction, abandonment, and maintenance of wells in the state, and licensed well contractors must obtain a permit from MDE (or a local county health department) prior to the construction of a proposed well.¹²² Well owners must obtain a Certificate of Potability for every new well that is intended to be used for drinking water. To obtain the certificate, a well must be sampled and tested in accordance with some of the SDWA requirements for public drinking water, including (1) test negative for the presence of coliform bacteria (two consecutive tests 24 hours apart required), (2) meet the MCL for nitrate-nitrogen, and (3) meet the turbidity standards also required for public drinking water.¹²³ Any "special conditions" written into the Certificate of Potability must be disclosed before the property is sold or leased out. New wells sourced by confined aquifers must be located 50 feet from identifiable sources of contamination or designated subsurface sewage disposal areas, and MDE may not approve a permit for a proposed well that is less than 100 feet from an unconfined aguifer.¹²⁴

At one point, MDE actively implemented a Groundwater Protection Program where it managed, monitored and annually reported on the state's groundwater resources,¹²⁵ but the state has not reported on the program since 2013. The 2013 report cited funding concerns, but it also stated that "[d]ue to agricultural land use practices, nitrate concentrations in shallow waters of unconfined Coastal Plain aguifers on Maryland's Eastern Shore commonly exceed the Federal Drinking Water Standard of 10 mg/L." The report further stated "[p]rivate residential wells are not monitored regularly and many homeowners are not aware of potential contamination. In addition, over time, contaminated groundwater can move deeper into the unconfined aguifer or may affect water in confined aguifers if there is a hydrologic connection between geologic layers."¹²⁶ While Maryland's Source Water Protection Program assesses sources of public drinking water, this program explicitly does not extend to groundwater that sources private drinking wells.¹²⁷ Other than issuing permits to potential polluters of groundwater, it's not clear that MDE is actively protecting groundwater, nor is it clear whether the state is monitoring and reporting on groundwater quality, identifying sources of contamination and regions of concern as it once did.

When it comes to Maryland's well water policies, as the following pages reveal, the state's protections for well owners are lagging behind relative to other states. In fact, the state ranked among the five states that had the least

Maryland's protections for well owners are lagging behind relative to other states. In fact, the state ranked among the five states that had the least protective policies for private well owners. protective policies for private well owners. Unlike other states, for instance, Maryland does not provide low-cost or free test kits, does not provide any financial assistance for the remediation of wells, does not require notification to private well owners in areas of suspected groundwater contamination, does not provide online access to private well records, does not engage in regular well water sampling in areas of known contamination, does not require property sellers to disclose well water quality test results to potential buyers, does not provide any

protections for tenants reliant on well drinking water, and does not require regular information-sharing between state-approved laboratories and county or state health departments. MDE's website also lacks comprehensive information and resources for private well owners compared to other states.¹²⁸

Across the country, well owners are currently expected to take the safety of their drinking water into their own hands but may lack the financial and technical means to do so, may not understand the need to regularly test their water, or may assume it's safe to drink. For example, a well owner may incorrectly be under the impression that their well water is safe because it met certain water quality requirements at the time the well was drilleddespite the fact that well water quality changes over time. People with less education or lower income are less likely to take measures to protect their well water guality, such as testing or installing treatment equipment.¹²⁹ There are many ways states and local governments can prioritize the health of private well owners by providing resources to ensure the safety of their drinking water. Table 5 below provides a comprehensive review of policies and programs utilized by states to protect private well drinking water. It should be noted that the table does not cover basic protections that most states have, such as well construction standards (i.e. depth, dimensions and materials used for construction) and well driller licensing.

The ten key policies and programs reviewed include:

- 1. Low- or No-Cost Test Kits: The state offers free or low-cost (<\$100) test kits to private well owners for a single contaminant or more.
- 2. **Initial Water Test**: The state requires newly constructed private wells to be tested to ensure that water quality meets certain safe drinking water standards.
- 3. **Property Transfer Disclosure**: The state requires property owners to disclose recent well water quality test results to potential buyers.

Tainted Tap

- 4. **Landlord Disclosure**: The state requires landlords to test well water quality and leased property periodically and disclose results to tenants.
- 5. **Groundwater Protection Program**: Either (1) the state has a well surveillance program where samples are taken from private wells and analyzed, (2) the state has an active groundwater protection program that assesses the quality of groundwater, identifies sources of contamination in groundwater, identifies areas of known groundwater contamination, and samples or includes assessments relevant for private drinking water wells, or (3) the state has adopted Safe Drinking Water Act thresholds for groundwater that may be used as a private drinking water source.
- 6. **Notice of Contamination**: The state explicitly requires notice to private well owners that may be affected by known groundwater contamination.
- 7. **Well Remediation Program**: The state offers financial or one-on-one technical assistance to replace, reconstruct or treat contaminated private drinking wells and associated groundwater.
- 8. **Well Registration or Notice**: The state requires some form of registration or notice of newly constructed private wells.
- 9. Education on Private Wells: The state posts comprehensive information on its website, in an accessible manner (i.e. a single web page with resources for private well owners and private well contractors linked throughout), that conveys the importance of regular private well testing and offers information regarding laws and regulations governing private wells.
- 10. **Online Well Data Access**: The state offers free, online access to basic well water data, such as location, well depth, and other relevant information.

State Well Water Policies

	Low- or No-Cost Test Kits	lnitial Water Test	Property Transfer Disclosure	Landlord Disclosure	Groundwater Protection Program	Notice of Contamina- tion	Well Remediation Program	Well Registration or Notice	Education on Private Wells	Online Well Data Access
Alabama	1									
Alaska								,	v	v
Arizona		1	1					1	1	1
Arkansas		1							1	j
California		1							1	
Colorado		•							•	
Conn.		7	4	4	•		1		7	
Delaware	1	•	i i		4			i i	- i	1
Florida	· ·	7		1	i i	7	1	i i	- i	i
Georgia				-	-	-		-	1	
Hawaii								1	1	1
Idaho		1			4			4	4	1
Illinois			7			1		1	1	1
Indiana			-		1			1	1	1
lowa	4	1			1		1	1	4	1
Kansas					4		1	4	4	1
Kentucky		1			4			4	7	1
Louisiana								4	7	1
Maine	4	4		7	4		4	4	7	4
Maryland		1					1			
Mass.		1						4		1
Michigan								4	7	1
Minnesota	1	4	7		4		1	1	7	4
Mississippi	4				4			1	7	4
Missouri	1	1						1		1
Montana	4							4	۲	1
Nebraska			۲		4			4		1
Nevada					4			1	7	4
New Hamp.					4	1		4	۲	1
New Jersey		1	۲ (1	4		1	4	4	1
New Mex.	1		4		4			4	4	4
New York	1	1						7	۲	1
North Car.		1			1			1		
North Dak.	1	1			- √	√		_ √		- √
Ohio		1						1		1
Oklahoma					1			1	1	1
Oregon	1	1	1					1	1	1
Penn.								- 1	1	
Khode Isl.	1	1	<u>۲</u>		1				<u>۲</u>	
South Car.	<u> </u>				<u>۲</u>		1	1		
South Dak.	N	۲ ا	<u>۲</u>					<u> </u>		1
Tennessee					<u> </u>				×	1
Texas						v		v	∖	1
Vormant					v			- V	v	1
Vermont		- 1			1			Y		1
Washington	N	V			N					
Washington West Vir									<u>۲</u>	V
Wisconsin			-		N			- V	-1	
Wyoming		- V	v				N N		1	
DC		Y							v	
Logic and Logic	N N				N N					N



Figure 6. Private Well Protection Rankings By State

Created with mapchart.net

The map in Figure 6 ranks states based on the policies outlined in Table 5. Seven states—Florida, Iowa, Maine, Minnesota, New Jersey, Oregon, and Wisconsin—ranked highest because they had a significant majority of the protective policies in place for private well owners. Five states—Alaska, Georgia, Maryland, Pennsylvania, and West Virginia—ranked lowest because they only had one or two protective policies in place. The rest of the states had somewhere between three and six of the protective policies in place.

At a bare minimum, all states should require water quality testing for new wells at the time they are drilled to ensure that well drinking water is safe at the outset. Only half of the states in the country currently require initial water quality testing. For example, North Carolina and Ohio laws require local health officials to collect initial water samples for any new well and ensure the water meets safety standards. While Maryland is among the states that offer the least amount of protective policies for private wells, the state does require initial testing at the time a well is drilled to ensure that water quality meets federal safe drinking water thresholds.

Offering free or low-cost test kits to private well owners is another beneficial incentive that ensures the safety of well drinking water and the health of families that rely on it. At least 17 states offer free or low cost water test kits for certain contaminants. Maine, for instance, established a maximum cost of \$10 for test kits. Other states, like New York, provide free test kits for known contaminants like lead. Providing free or low-cost test kits is important not only to encourage residents to test their unprotected well water, but for low-income residents who may not have the financial means to purchase a full-cost test kit that may be hundreds of dollars. This incentive ensures that well water is safe on an ongoing basis, which is essential given the nature of pollution migration over time. Incentivizing well water testing can also build a public record of groundwater quality and better inform well owners of areas of groundwater contamination, especially in states that collect and publish private well water test results.

Nine states offer some sort of well remediation program that provides financial or one-on-one technical assistance to replace, reconstruct, or treat contaminated private drinking wells and associated groundwater. In Iowa, the lowa Groundwater Protection Act imposes a small tax on pesticide sales to create a continuous, state-controlled funding stream that county governments can apply to tap. The funding can be used for free or low-cost test kits, to rehabilitate wells that have been contaminated, or for outreach and education. ¹³⁰This program provides county governments with enough leeway and funding to set up individual well protection programs that meet the needs of local residents. Iowa's program was adopted after 8 percent of the wells in a certain region had reported high arsenic levels.¹³¹ Wisconsin's Well Compensation Grant Program, administered by the state's Department of Natural Resources, also serves as an instructive model because it provides financial assistance to low-income residents or landlords for well water quality test kits and for the replacement, reconstruction, or treatment of contaminated drinking water wells.

Tenants who lease property with well water are commonly unprotected, except in Connecticut, Florida, New Jersey, and Maine. New Jersey's law may serve as a model for other states by requiring landlords to test wells and disclose those results to tenants at least every five years. Likewise, potential buyers of homes with well water should be adequately informed about the quality of the water, as is required in 12 states. Wisconsin law addresses this by requiring property owners to test water for certain known contaminants and disclose those results to potential buyers within a reasonable time frame.

States should also set up source-tracking and groundwater monitoring programs in areas where private wells are more prevalent. Thirty-seven states have set up some sort of well surveillance program or groundwater protection program where samples are taken from private wells or groundwater sources and analyzed. Some states have chosen to adopt Safe

Drinking Water Act thresholds for groundwater, requiring sampling and remediation of contaminated groundwater that sources private wells. These types of programs also typically identify sources of contamination in groundwater and areas of known groundwater contamination. Florida's well surveillance program provides an example for states that wish to assist residents who own wells in areas of known or suspected contamination. This serves as a good option for states that may lack funding to implement a comprehensive well compensation grant program but would like to protect residents who are reliant on well water.

Only a handful of states require notice to private well owners who may be affected by known groundwater contamination. Illinois regulations, for instance, require notification to nearby private well owners if the state Department of Public Health learns of groundwater contamination. State regulations in Texas require the state's Commission on Environmental Quality to notify residential owners of private drinking water wells that may be affected by groundwater contamination within 30 days of receiving notice of the contamination.¹³² Just as residents who rely on public drinking water sources receive notification when their drinking water is contaminated at unsafe levels, residents who rely on private drinking water are entitled to the same. It is arguably even more important to provide notice of contamination to private well owners, because unlike those who drink from public water sources, private well owners bear the responsibility of initiating measures to clean up their drinking water.

Lastly, a majority of states provide online access to private well data and related information. If the data published provides enough information, such as ongoing water quality testing, it can be used as a powerful tool to inform residents about areas of concern for private wells and state officials about overall trends with private wells, so that the state can better protect private drinking water guality. The public should be informed about trends in well water quality data, especially in cases where contamination is prevalent, but where residents may not have access to assistance or resources for well water testing and remediation. In a similar vein, states should strive for better collaboration between state-certified laboratories that test well water quality and state or local health departments. For instance, Maine's law requires laboratories to report residential well water quality test results to the state Department of Health. Maine also requires county departments to routinely collect those results. This enables the government to access data relevant for informed decision-making, allowing agencies to better protect residents' health and safety.

For a more in-depth look at the state laws discussed, Table 6 in the Appendix outlines various state laws and regulations that provide protections for residential wells beyond federal law. The Appendix also contains principles for model legislation that advocates and policy makers can use to improve their state's protections for private well owners.

Tainted Tap

Recommendations

To better protect the health of the nearly 182,000 residents of the Lower Eastern Shore, the Maryland state legislature should enact legislation that would:

- Establish safe drinking water standards for private wells and smaller community systems that are not covered by the Safe Drinking Water Act;
- Require the Maryland Department of Health or Maryland Department of the Environment to implement a well compensation program that helps cover the costs of well water testing, sampling and analysis, along with any needed remediation or replacement due to contaminated drinking water, prioritizing funding for low-income residents;
- Require property owners wishing to sell their homes to test well water quality within six months of sale and disclose well water test results to potential buyers;
- Require landlords to test well water quality on leased property every three to five years and inform tenants of the results;
- Publish all water quality testing results for private wells on a public online portal operated by state and local health departments, and require regular information-sharing between relevant state and local agencies and state-approved laboratories;
- Work with relevant state agencies and local county health departments to engage in outreach and public education, encouraging residents to test their water annually and educating them about the availability of financial assistance;
- Create a well surveillance and sampling program requiring relevant agencies to sample well water and collect well water quality testing data from local health departments, notify private well owners of suspected groundwater contamination nearby, and publish updated information about areas of known or suspected groundwater contamination;
- Ensure all public water utilities test for and report nitrate levels annually in Consumer Confidence Reports, and ensure most recent reports are publicly available;
- Require farms in areas with known or suspected groundwater contamination to implement best management practices to minimize the leaching of nitrate to groundwater; and
- Establish a statewide moratorium on new and expanding CAFOs.

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency should:

• Complete an updated review on the relationship between nitrate consumption and adverse health outcomes, either through an Integrated Risk Information System health assessment, or by other

means, and then update the safe drinking water thresholds, or "Maximum Contaminant Level," for nitrates accordingly; and

• Work with states to establish stronger, more protective safe drinking water thresholds for nitrates based on the latest research regarding adverse health effects.

In addition, policy and public health advocates can:

• Develop model legislation for states and litigation theory under state and federal law to hold CAFOs accountable for spreading animal waste on fields in amounts that pollute drinking water sources, whether private or public.

Appendix

Principles for Model Legislation. At a bare minimum, all states should (a) require a permit for any individual wishing to drill a well, (b) have policies governing the design of the residential well, such as the depth, dimensions and materials used for construction, (c) grant authority to county officials to inspect private wells, upon drilling and regularly as needed, (d) require water quality testing when a new well is drilled, and (e) have abandonment procedures in place for the proper decommissioning of a well, including filling and sealing it. Beyond these basic requirements, states should incorporate the following policies, programs and tools to ensure families with well water remain safe from unknown contaminants:

- 1. Low-cost or no-cost subsidized well water test kits and analysis;
- 2. Financial and technical assistance for residents to remediate contaminated well water;
- 3. Mandated well water quality test around time of well construction (either required by well owner, well driller, or county health department) that proves well water is safe for consumption based on federal safe drinking water thresholds;
- 4. Disclosure of known well water quality problems upon property transfer;
- 5. Regular landlord well water testing for leased properties, with disclosure to tenants;
- 6. Well water quality surveillance, sampling, and groundwater monitoring programs, with efforts to identify and track sources of contamination, administered by the state and county health departments;
- 7. Publicize areas of known groundwater contamination, assessments of groundwater quality, and sources of contamination;
- 8. Public access to well data, information, and water quality tests on a online portal operated by state and local health departments;
- 9. Regular information-sharing between relevant state and local agencies and state-approved laboratories regarding groundwater contamination and private well water;
- 10. Notification to private well owners of nearby groundwater contamination after relevant state agencies are made aware;
- 11. Outreach and education programs highlighting the importance of regular testing and the availability of assistance;

- 12. Extended federal Safe Drinking Water Act standards to protect groundwater that sources private wells; and
- 13. Greater authority for local water boards or other relevant agencies to order remedial action in cases of contaminated wells.

Table 6. State Regulations and Laws Beyond the Safe Drinking Water \mathbf{Act}^{133}

State	Policy
Alaska	The state has a program where it tracks contaminated real estate, based on a number of sources of pollution, and encourages property owners to review contaminated areas before drilling new wells. ¹³⁴
Arizona	State law requires property owners to disclose "problems" that they are aware of with the private water supply prior to sale. ¹³⁵
California	State law grants authority to the State Water Resources Control Board "to order consolidation with, or extension of service from, a receiving water system if a disadvantaged community is reliant on a domestic well that consistently fails to provide an adequate supply of safe drinking water." ¹³⁶
Connecticut	State law requires water quality testing of newly constructed wells for certain contaminants and requires laboratories to report the results to the state Department of Public Health. ¹³⁷ The law allows local health departments to require testing for other groundwater contaminants. The legislature also convened a working group to study and make recommendations to ensure the quality of private wells. ¹³⁸
Delaware	The state's Department of Health & Social Services provides test kits to private well owners for \$4 to test for nitrate, nitrite, iron, fluoride, alkalinity, pH, chloride, sulfate, sodium, hardness and other bacteria. ¹³⁹
Florida	The state has a well surveillance program under which county health department personnel conduct field sampling and surveys in drinking water wells around areas of known or suspected contamination. ¹⁴⁰ The state's Department of Environmental Protection also notifies private well owners that may be impacted by known groundwater contamination. ¹⁴¹
Illinois	Regulations require notification to private well owners if the state Department of Public Health learns of nearby groundwater contamination. ¹⁴² State law requires property sellers to disclose "material defects" of residential wells, including "unsafe drinking water." ¹⁴³

lowa	The Iowa Groundwater Protection Act provides counties with funding to test and rehabilitate private water wells for free or at a discounted cost. ¹⁴⁴ To provide a continuous source of funding for this work, the state imposed a fee on pesticide sales. The Iowa Department of Public Health also has a Private Well Water Tracking Portal. ¹⁴⁵
Kansas	The Kansas Department of Health & Environment offers individuals wishing to drill new private wells a mapping tool to identify potential sources of groundwater contamination. ¹⁴⁶
Kentucky	State regulations require drillers of new or modified wells to test for E. coli and provide the results to the well owner. ¹⁴⁷ State regulations require individuals who land-apply pollutants or fertilizers for commercial purposes to obtain a Groundwater Protection Permit that requires certain best management practices to mitigate pollution impacts to groundwater. ¹⁴⁸ The state also has a Groundwater Assistance Program where state officials offer residents technical support by evaluating private well water quality, on request, and monitoring groundwater sources. ¹⁴⁹
Maine	State law requires laboratories to report residential well water quality test results to the state Department of Health; test results must also be collected by local county departments. ¹⁵⁰ State laboratories charge no more than \$10 for each water quality test. The Maine Private Well Safe Drinking Water Fund provides funding for these subsidized test kits, as well as outreach and education on the importance of regular well water testing. State law also requires landlords to test well water every three to five years and disclose the results to tenants. ¹⁵¹
Minnesota	The state's Department of Health utilizes its Clean Water Fund to provide grants (of up to \$100,000) to residents in counties with known contamination for testing and well remediation. The department also utilizes the fund to promote well water testing.
Maryland	State regulations require well owners to disclose any special conditions with residential well before entering into a contract of sale or lease. ¹⁵² Regulations also require each new well owner to obtain a Certificate of Potability to ensure that initial water quality meets certain basic standards.
Montana	The state laboratory offers a wide range of private well testing kits, with basic screening tests starting at \$50. ¹⁵³
Michigan	State law requires all new, repaired, and reconditioned wells to be tested for coliform bacteria. ¹⁵⁴

Minnesota	State regulations require any person who constructs a new residential well to test the water for coliform bacteria, nitrate, and arsenic by a certified laboratory and disclose those results to the well owner. ¹⁵⁵ The Minnesota Department of Agriculture also created a Groundwater Protection Rule, which restricts the use of nitrogen fertilizer in the fall on frozen soils in areas of the state with vulnerable groundwater.
Mississippi	The Mississippi State Department of Health will test private wells for bacteriological contamination for free. ¹⁵⁶ The department samples and monitors water quality in private wells. ¹⁵⁷ The state adopted the federal Safe Drinking Water Act thresholds for all groundwater that meets EPA's definition of underground sources of drinking water. ¹⁵⁸ The department oversees compliance with the thresholds by periodically surveying groundwater wells that source community-based systems. ¹⁵⁹
Missouri	The Missouri Department of Health & Senior Services provides low-cost test kits and analysis to private well owners for \$10. ¹⁶⁰ State law also requires private well water sampling during well installation. ¹⁶¹
New Jersey	The state's Private Well Testing Act requires well water testing to take place when a property is expected to be sold or leased; ¹⁶² the test results must meet federal safe drinking water thresholds. ¹⁶³ The results must be disclosed to the potential buyer or tenant. Landlords are also required to test well water once every five years and provide the results to each tenant. ¹⁶⁴ The state has also extended the Safe Drinking Water Act thresholds to groundwater that can be used as a potable water supply. ¹⁶⁵
New Mexico	The New Mexico Department of the Environment provides free testing of private domestic wells for nitrate, iron and fluoride. ¹⁶⁶ The state also requires identification tags for all new wells. ¹⁶⁷
New York	New York offers free water quality testing for lead in private wells. New York also retains the authority to require wells serving five or more people to be tested for certain contaminants. ¹⁶⁸
North Carolina	State regulations require the relevant local health department to collect water samples for any newly constructed well and have the samples tested for certain contaminants by a state lab. ¹⁶⁹
North Dakota	The state Department of Health provides well water testing for \$10 for E.coli. ¹⁷⁰

Ohio	State regulations require the relevant local health districts to collect water samples for any newly constructed well and have the samples tested for E. coli, total coliform, and nitrates. The state also established microbiological standards for private drinking wells. ¹⁷¹
Oklahoma	Through an executive order, the Oklahoma Department of Environmental Quality offered one-time free testing for private wells that were submerged due to a flooding incident.
Oregon	State_law requires that the seller of a property with a private well have it tested for arsenic, nitrates and total coliform bacteria prior to the sale of a property; the results must be disclosed to the buyer. ¹⁷²
Rhode Island	State regulations require new private wells to be tested for certain contaminants. The State Department of Health offers low-cost test kits.
South Carolina	The Department of Health and Environment provides testing and analysis for \$25-\$95 for total or fecal coliform, metals and minerals, and other inorganic parameters. ¹⁷³
South Dakota	The_Department of Health provides low-cost testing for bacteria, nitrate and lead. A more comprehensive test is offered for new wells.
Texas	State regulations require the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality to notify residential owners of private drinking water wells that may be affected by groundwater contamination within 30 days of the date the department receives notice (or becomes aware) of the contamination. ¹⁷⁴
Vermont	State law requires testing of groundwater sources for single- family residences. ¹⁷⁵ New wells must be tested for a range of known contaminants and test kits are provided for \$161.
Virginia	The Virginia Household Water Quality Program offers low cost annual water well testing, with drinking water clinics at various locations throughout Virginia. State regulations also require testing of newly constructed wells for coliform organisms. ¹⁷⁶
Washington	Small community-based drinking water systems serving two to 14 connections must follow water quality and operation requirements, including mandated testing for nitrate contamination every 36 months. ¹⁷⁷ This does not apply to private wells that serve a single residence.
Washington D.C.	The Drinking Water Division provides free test kits to homeowners and tenants. ¹⁷⁸

Wisconsin	The state's Department of Natural Resources has a well compensation grant program that provides funding for well owners and landlords to test their water quality and to "replace, reconstruct or treat contaminated private water supplies." ¹⁷⁹ In order to be eligible for financial assistance, family income may not exceed \$65,000. State rules also require new wells to be tested for nitrate and coliform bacteria. ¹⁸⁰ The state requires testing and disclosure upon
	bacteria. ¹⁸⁰ The state requires testing and disclosure upon property transfer for arsenic, bacteria, and nitrate

Endnotes

¹ Graves LB, et al., *Rapid Health Impact Assessment: Millsboro, DE*. Maryland Institute for Applied Environmental Health (2016).

² Id.

³ U.S. Government Accountability Office, *Concentrated Animal Feeding Operations: EPA Needs More Information and a Clearly Defined Strategy to Protect Air and Water Quality from Pollutants of Concern* (2008).

⁴ Geosyntec Consultants, City of Baltimore: Recycling and Solid Waste Management Master Plan (2019),

https://publicworks.baltimorecity.gov/sites/default/files/LWBBTask3ReportFinal.pdf.

⁵ Oun A, et al., Effects of Biosolids and Manure Application on Microbial Water Quality in Rural Areas in the US. Water (2014).

⁶ National Association of Local Boards of Health, Hribar C., Understanding Concentrated Animal Feed Operations and Their Impact on Communities (2010).

7 Id.

⁸ Id.

9 Id.

¹⁰ National Groundwater Association, Groundwater Facts, <u>https://www.ngwa.org/what-is-groundwater/About-groundwater/groundwater-facts</u> (last visited February 27, 2020).

¹¹ National Conference of State Legislatures, Regulating Private Water Wells (2020), <u>https://www.ncsl.org/research/environment-and-natural-resources/regulating-private-water-wells.aspx</u>.

¹² U.S. Geological Survey, Dubrovsky NM, et al., *The Quality of Our Nation's Water—Nutrients in the Nation's Streams and Groundwater*, 1992-2004 (2010).

¹³ Mary H. Ward, et al, *Drinking Water Nitrate and Human Health: An Updated Review,* Int J Environ Res Public Health (2018).

¹⁴ Id.

¹⁵ U.S. Geological Survey, Contamination in U.S. Private Wells, <u>https://www.usgs.gov/special-topic/water-science-school/science/contamination-us-private-wells</u> (last visited September 11, 2020).

¹⁶ American Public Health Association, Precautionary Moratorium on New and Expanding Concentrated Animal Feed Operations (2019), <u>https://www.apha.org/policies-and-advocacy/public-health-policy-statements/policy-database/2020/01/13/precautionary-moratorium-on-new-and-expanding-concentrated-animal-feeding-operations.</u>

¹⁷ 42 U.S.C. §300f et seq. (1974).

¹⁸ 42 USC §300f(4) (2016).

¹⁹ Id.

²⁰ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, National Primary Drinking Water Regulations, <u>https://www.epa.gov/ground-water-and-drinking-water/national-primary-drinking-water-regulations</u> (last visited February 26, 2020).

²¹ Walton G, Survey of Literature Relating to Infant Methemoglobinemia Due to Nitrate-Contaminated Water. Am J Public Health (1951).

22 42 U.S.C.A. § 300g-1 (1996).

²³ Mary H. Ward, et al, *Drinking Water Nitrate and Human Health: An Updated Review,* Int J Environ Res Public Health (2018).

²⁴ Environmental Working Group, Pouring It On: Health Effects of Nitrate Exposure (1996), <u>https://www.ewg.org/research/pouring-it/health-effects-nitrate-exposure</u>.

²⁵ Manassaram DM, et al., *Nitrates in Drinking Water and Methemoglobin Levels in Pregnancy: A Longitudinal Study*, Environ Health (2010).

²⁶ Mary H. Ward, et al, *Drinking Water Nitrate and Human Health: An Updated Review,* Int J Environ Res Public Health (2018).

²⁷ Inoue-Choi M, et al., *Nitrate and Nitrite Ingestion and Risk of Ovarian Cancer Among Post-Menopausal Women in Iowa*, Int J Cancer (2015).

²⁸ Temkin A, et al., *Exposure-Based Assessment and Economic Valuation of Adverse Birth Outcomes and Cancer Risk Due to Nitrate in Drinking Water*, Environ Res (2019).

²⁹ Id.

³⁰ Id.

³¹ *Id*.

³² Environmental Protection Agency, *Regional Screening Levels (RSLs) - User's Guide (2020)*, <u>https://www.epa.gov/risk/regional-screening-levels-rsls-users-guide</u>.

³³ Environmental Working Group, Temkin, A., Nitrate in U.S. Tap Water May Cause More Than 12,500 Cancers a Year (2019), <u>https://www.ewg.org/research/nitrate-us-tap-water-may-cause-more-12500-cancers-year# ftn3</u>.

³⁴ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Nitrate and Drinking Water from Private Wells, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/drinking/private/wells/disease/nitrate.html</u> (last visited September 10, 2020).

³⁵ Environmental Working Group, Schechinger AW, Cox C. America's Nitrate Habit is Costly and Dangerous (2018), <u>https://www.ewg.org/research/nitratecost/</u>.

³⁶ Vedachalam S, Mandelia AJ, Heath EA., *The Impact of Source Water Quality on the Cost of Nitrate Treatment,* AWWA Wat Sci (2018).

³⁷ Id.

³⁸ Id.

³⁹ Jensen VB, et al., Technical Report 6: Drinking Water Treatment for Nitrate, California State Water Resources Control Board (2012),

http://groundwaternitrate.ucdavis.edu/files/139107.pdf.

⁴⁰ Id.

⁴¹ Juntakut P, et al., *Risk and Cost Assessment of Nitrate Contamination in Domestic Wells*, Water (2020).

⁴² Pollans MJ., Drinking Water Protection and Agricultural Exceptionalism, Ohio St. L.J. (2016).

⁴³ Calma J., Research Casts Doubt on EPA Drinking Water Standard, Grist (2019), <u>https://grist.org/article/research-casts-doubt-on-epa-drinking-water-standard/</u>.

⁴⁴ Minnesota Department of Health, Nitrate in Drinking Water, <u>https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/environment/water/contaminants/nitrate.ht</u> <u>ml#MDHEfforts</u> (last visited March 26, 2020).

⁴⁵ Bachmann LJ, Wilson JM, *The Columbia Aquifer and Eastern Shore of Maryland*, Maryland Geological Survey (1984).

⁴⁶ Harvey J. Oregon Department of Environmental Quality, Fact Sheet: Nitrate in Drinking Water (2020), <u>https://www.oregon.gov/deq/FilterDocs/nitratedw.pdf</u>.

⁴⁷ Owen D. Little Streams and Legal Transformations, Utah Law Review (2015).

⁴⁸ Virginia Institute of Marine Science, Real-Time Estimates of Hypoxic Water Volume, <u>https://www.vims.edu/research/topics/dead_zones/forecasts/cbay/hypoxic-volume/index.php</u> (last visited September 22, 2020).

⁴⁹ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Harmful Algal Bloom (HAB)-Associated Illness, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/habs/general.html</u> (last visited September 22, 2020).

⁵⁰ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, An Overview of the Safe Drinking Water Act, <u>https://cfpub.epa.gov/watertrain/pdf/sdwa.pdf</u>.

⁵¹ Alisha Duggal, et al., A Public Health Legal Guide to Safe Drinking Water, University of Maryland Carey School of Law (2015), <u>https://www.astho.org/Public-Policy/Public-Health-Law/Public-Health-Authority-Over-Drinking-Water-Quality-Overview/</u>.

⁵² If a public water supplier exceeds the Maximum Contaminant Level for any contaminant, including nitrates, the EPA has blanket authority to impose administrative compliance orders, imminent and substantial endangerment orders, criminal penalties, and civil penalties up to \$32,500 per day against the public water supplier or facilities that threaten public drinking water sources. Regulations require the public water supplier to notify the public if its water does not meet the Maximum Contaminant Level standards, it fails to test its water as required, or if the system has been granted a variance or exemption from compliance with the law. 42 U.S.C. §300(g)(2); 42 U.S.C. §300 (j)(6) - (j)(13); 40 CFR Part 141(Q).

53 42 U.S.C. §300(j)(13).

⁵⁴ University of Maryland Carey School of Law, Alisha Duggal, et al., A Public Health Legal Guide to Safe Drinking Water (2015).

⁵⁵ Id.

⁵⁶ Id.

⁵⁷ National Conference of State Legislatures, Regulating Private Water Wells (2020), <u>https://www.ncsl.org/research/environment-and-natural-resources/regulating-private-water-wells.aspx</u>.

⁵⁸ The New York Times, Health Ills Abound as Farm Runoff Fouls Wells (2009), <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2009/09/18/us/18dairy.html#:~:text=An%20estimated%2019.5%</u> 20million%20Americans,of%20Environmental%20Contamination%20and%20Toxicology.

59 COMAR 26.04.01.06.

⁶⁰ COMAR 26.04.04.30.

⁶¹ Id.

⁶² U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Li J, et al., *Integrated Risk Information System Assessment Plan for Nitrate and Nitrite* (2017).

⁶³ Id.

⁶⁴ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, A Message from the IRIS Program (2019), <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/201904/documents/iris program outlook apr</u> <u>2019.pdf</u>.

⁶⁵ Maryland Department of Environment, *Status of Animal Feeding Operations (AFO) Applications* (2020), https://mde.maryland.gov/programs/LAND/RecyclingandOperationsprogram/Pages/CAFO. aspx.

⁶⁶ Id.

⁶⁷ Chesapeake Bay Program, Chesapeake Assessment and Scenario Tool, Version 2019 (last visited September 27, 2020).

⁶⁸ Maryland Department of Agriculture, Maryland Agricultural Water Quality Cost-Share Program,

https://mda.maryland.gov/resource_conservation/Documents/RevisedMACSbochure.pdf.

⁶⁹ Maryland Department of Agriculture, *Maryland Agricultural Water Quality Cost-Share Program: Annual Report* (2019),

https://mda.maryland.gov/resource_conservation/counties/MDA_MACS_AR2019_FINAL.pd f.

⁷⁰ Natural Resources Defense Council, Miller DL, Muren G., *CAFOs: What We Don't Know is Hurting Us* (2019), <u>https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/cafos-dont-know-hurting-us-report.pdf</u>.

⁷¹ Bernhardt C, et al., *Manure Overload on Maryland's Eastern Shore*, Environmental Integrity Project (2014), <u>https://environmentalintegrity.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Manure-Overload1.pdf</u>.

⁷² Id.

⁷³ Senate Bill 546 (Ch. 760), Maryland General Assembly (2019).

⁷⁴ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Estimated Nitrate Concentrations in Groundwater Used for Drinking, <u>https://www.epa.gov/nutrient-policy-data/estimated-nitrate-</u> <u>concentrations-groundwater-used-drinking</u> (last visited September 22, 2020).

⁷⁵ Id.

⁷⁶ U.S. Geological Survey, Ator SW, Denver JM., Understanding Nutrients in the Chesapeake Bay Watershed and Implications for Management and Restoration—the Eastern Shore (2015), <u>https://pubs.usgs.gov/circ/1406/pdf/circ1406.pdf</u>.

⁷⁷ Id.

⁷⁸ Id.

⁷⁹ U.S. Geological Survey, Dubrovsky NM, et al., *The Quality of Our Nation's Water—Nutrients in the Nation's Streams and Groundwater*, 1992-2004 (2010).

⁸⁰ Id.

⁸¹ Chesapeake Bay Program, Chesapeake Assessment and Scenario Tool, Version 2019 (last visited September 27, 2020).

⁸² Id.

⁸³ U.S. Geological Survey, Ator SW, Denver JM., Understanding Nutrients in the Chesapeake Bay Watershed and Implications for Management and Restoration—the Eastern Shore (2015).

⁸⁴ Maryland Department of Environment, *Residential Wells*, <u>https://mde.state.md.us/programs/Water/Water_Supply/Pages/Residential_Wells.aspx</u> (last visited February 25, 2020).

⁸⁵ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Estimated Nitrate Concentrations in Groundwater Used for Drinking, https://www.epa.gov/nutrient-policy-data/estimated-nitrate-concentrations-groundwater-used-drinking (last visited September 22, 2020).

⁸⁶ U.S. Geological Survey, Maupin MA, et al., *Estimated Use of Water in the United States in 2010* (2014), <u>https://pubs.usqs.gov/circ/1405/pdf/circ1405.pdf</u>.

⁸⁷ Murray RT, et al., *Prevalence of Microbiological and Chemical Contaminants in Private Drinking Water Wells in Maryland, USA.*, Int J Res Public Health (2018).

⁸⁸ Maryland Department of Planning, Property Map Products, <u>https://planning.maryland.gov/Pages/OurProducts/PropertyMapProducts/PaperTaxMaps.as</u>

px (last visited September 29, 2020).

⁸⁹ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Consumer Confidence Reports, <u>https://ofmpub.epa.gov/apex/safewater/f?p=136:103:::NO:::</u> (last visited March 26, 2020).

⁹⁰ Wicomico County Health Department, Health Maps, <u>https://www.wicomicohealth.org/environmental-health/health-maps/</u> (last visited March 26, 2020).

⁹¹ Wicomico County Health Department, Wells with High Nitrates 2008-2014, <u>https://www.wicomicohealth.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/HighNitrates2008-2014.pdf</u>.

⁹² Id.

⁹³ Wicomico County Department of Public Works, *Wicomico County Water and Sewerage Plan* (2010), <u>https://www.wicomicocounty.org/DocumentCenter/View/4156/Comprehensive-Water-and-Sewer-Plan</u>.

⁹⁴ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Consumer Confidence Reports (last visited September 23, 2020).

⁹⁵ United States Census Bureau, Wicomico County, Maryland (2019), <u>https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/wicomicocountymaryland/INC110218</u> (last visited September 23, 2020).

⁹⁶ Maryland Department of Environment, Consumer Confidence Reports: Wicomico County, Maryland,

https://mde.state.md.us/programs/Water/water_supply/ConsumerConfidenceReports/Page s/wicomico.aspx (last visited February 25, 2020).

⁹⁷ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, 2018 Edition of the Drinking Water Standards and Health Advisories (2018), <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2018-03/documents/dwtable2018.pdf</u>.

⁹⁸ Wheeler DC, et al., *Modeling Groundwater Nitrate Concentrations in Private Wells in Iowa*, Sci Total Environ (2015).

⁹⁹ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Consumer Confidence Reports (last visited September 23, 2020).

¹⁰⁰ United States Census Bureau, Worcester County, Maryland (2019),

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/worcestercountymaryland.

¹⁰¹ Worcester County, Maryland, Drinking Water Quality Reports,

http://www.co.worcester.md.us/departments/publicworks/water/quality (last visited February 25, 2020).

¹⁰² Somerset County Sanitary District, Drinking Water Quality Reports, <u>https://www.somersetmd.us/departments/departments_n_</u>

z/sanitary district/downloadable forms.php#outer-155 (last visited February 25, 2020).

¹⁰³ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Consumer Confidence Reports (last visited September 23, 2020).

¹⁰⁴ United States Census Bureau, Somerset County, Maryland (2019), <u>https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/somersetcountymaryland</u>.

¹⁰⁵ Environmental Working Group, Interactive Map: Estimated Nitrate Attributable Cancer Cases for Each State (2019), <u>https://www.ewg.org/interactive-maps/2019_nitrate/map/</u>.

¹⁰⁶ National Cancer Institute, Incidence Rate Report for Maryland by County: All Cancer Sites (2013-2017),

https://statecancerprofiles.cancer.gov/incidencerates/index.php?stateFIPS=24&areatype=c ounty&cancer=001&race=00&sex=0&age=001&type=incd&sortVariableName=rate&sortOrd er=default&output=0#results.

¹⁰⁷ National Cancer Institute, Incidence Rate Report for Maryland by County: Colon & Rectum (2013-2017),

https://statecancerprofiles.cancer.gov/incidencerates/index.php?stateFIPS=24&areatype=c ounty&cancer=020&race=00&sex=0&age=157&stage=999&type=incd&sortVariableName=r ate&sortOrder=default&output=0#results.

¹⁰⁸ Maryland Department of Health, *Maryland Vital Statistics: Infant Mortality in Maryland,* 2017 (2018),

https://health.maryland.gov/vsa/Documents/Reports%20and%20Data/Infant%20Mortality/Infant Mortality Report 2017 20180919.pdf.

¹⁰⁹ Id.

¹¹⁰ Id.

¹¹¹ Maryland Manual On-Line, Maryland at a Glance: Economy - Income, <u>https://msa.maryland.gov/msa/mdmanual/01glance/economy/html/income.html#poverty</u> (last visited October 1, 2020).

¹¹² Maryland Department of Health, Fetal and Infant Mortality Review (FIMR) Program, <u>https://phpa.health.maryland.gov/mch/Pages/fimr_home.aspx</u> (last visited October 1, 2020).

¹¹³ U.S. Census Bureau, Maryland; Somerset County, Maryland; Worcester County, Maryland; Wicomico County, Maryland,

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/MD,somersetcountymaryland,worcestercountymaryland,wicomicocountymaryland/PST045219 (last visited September 22, 2020).

¹¹⁴ Id.

¹¹⁵ Wilson SM, et al., *Environmental Injustice and the Mississippi Hog Industry*, Environ Health Perspect (2002).

¹¹⁶ Wing S, et al., *Environmental Injustice in North Carolina's Hog Industry*, Environ Health Perspect (2000).

¹¹⁷ Bowen K., *State-Level Policies Concerning Private Wells in the United States*, Water Policy (2020).

¹¹⁸ Id.

¹¹⁹ Westchester County Government (New York), Private Well Water, <u>https://health.westchestergov.com/private-well-water</u> (last visited September 13, 2020).

¹²⁰ Suffolk County Government (New York), Private Well Water Testing Program, <u>https://www.suffolkcountyny.gov/Departments/Health-Services/Environmental-</u> <u>Quality/Water-Resources/Private-Well-Water-Testing-Program</u> (last visited September 16, 2020).

¹²¹ Id.

¹²² COMAR 26.04.04.03; MDE also keeps a record of each Well Construction Permit it has issued in an internal (nonpublic) database.

¹²³ COMAR 26.04.04.30.

¹²⁴ COMAR 26.04.04.04.

¹²⁵ Maryland Senate Joint Resolution No. 25 (1985), http://aomol.msa.maryland.gov/000001/000760/html/am760--3704.html .

¹²⁶ *Id.* In 2013, the state legislature expanded the Maryland Clean Water Fund to cover the "management, conservation, protection, and preservation of the State's groundwater...",but the law prioritizes funding of efforts to improve surface waters, so it's unclear what percentage is dedicated to the state's groundwater resources. *Md. Code Ann., Envir. § 9-320.*

¹²⁷ Maryland Department of the Environment, Maryland's Source Water Protection Program, https://mde.maryland.gov/programs/water/water_supply/source_water_assessment_progr am/pages/factsheet.aspx (last visited October 7, 2020).

¹²⁸ See e.g. Maryland Department of the Environment, Residential Wells, <u>https://mde.maryland.gov/programs/Water/water_supply/Pages/Residential_Wells.aspx</u> (last visited October 7, 2020).

¹²⁹ See e.g. The Minnesota Health Department conducted a Private Well Protection Household Survey and 81 percent of well owners did not test their well at the recommended frequency. The Department found that well owners who did not take action were strongly associated with: (1) "The perception that their well water is safe to drink (risk perception)", (2) Not knowing what contaminant levels raise health concerns (knowledge barrier), and (3) "The perception that it costs a lot to treat" a certain contaminant (financial barrier)." Minnesota Health Department, Private Well Protection Clean Water Fund, https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/environment/water/cwf/wells.html (last visited October 7, 2020).

¹³⁰ National Conference of State Legislatures, Regulating Private Water Wells (2020), https://www.ncsl.org/research/environment-and-natural-resources/regulating-private-water-wells.aspx.

¹³¹ Id.

¹³² Texas Water Code §26.408.

¹³³ Table 5 is not intended to be a comprehensive list of each state's policies and programs that govern residential wells, but offers a sample review of the types of ways states can protect residential well owners.

¹³⁴ Alaska Division of Spill Prevention and Response, Contaminated Real Estate in Alaska, <u>https://dec.alaska.gov/spar/csp/csp-real-estate.htm</u> (last visited September 14, 2020); see also Alaska Division of Environmental Health Drinking Water Program, Private Drinking Water Wells & Systems, <u>https://dec.alaska.gov/eh/dw/dwp/private-wells/#construct</u> (last visited September 14, 2020).

¹³⁵ Arizona Association of Realtors, Residential Seller Disclosure Advisory, (2014), <u>https://www.aaronline.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/seller-property-disclosure-statement.pdf</u>.

¹³⁶ California Assembly Bill No. 508 (Ch. 352),

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201920200AB508.

¹³⁷ Connecticut Section 19-13-B101 (Public Health Code); Dube N. *Private Residential Wells*, Connecticut General Assembly Office of Legislative Research (2016) https://www.cga.ct.gov/2016/rpt/pdf/2016-R-0263.pdf. ¹³⁸ Connecticut Public Act 08-184 Sec. 51.

¹³⁹ Department of Health and Social Services (Delaware), Private Well Owners, <u>https://dhss.delaware.gov/dph/lab/privdw.html</u> (last visited September 6, 2020).

¹⁴⁰ Department of Health (Florida), Well Surveillance Program,

http://www.floridahealth.gov/environmental-health/drinking-water/well-surveys.html (last visited September 9, 2020).

¹⁴¹ Florida Department of Environmental Protection, Public Notification of the Discovery of Contamination, <u>https://floridadep.gov/waste/district-business-support/content/public-notification-discovery-contamination</u> (last visited October 7,2020).

142 415 ILCS 55/9.1.

¹⁴³ III. § 765 ILCS 77.

¹⁴⁴ Iowa §455E.3.

¹⁴⁵ Iowa Public Health Tracking Portal, Private Well Water, <u>https://tracking.idph.iowa.gov/Environment/Private-Well-Water/Private-Well-Water-and-Health</u> (last visited September 9, 2020).

¹⁴⁶ Kansas Department of Health & Environment, KDHE Environmental Interest Finder, <u>https://maps.kdhe.state.ks.us/keif/</u> (last visited October 7, 2020).

¹⁴⁷ 401 KAR 6:310.

¹⁴⁸ 401 KAR 5:037.

¹⁴⁹ Kentucky Energy and Environment Cabinet, Groundwater Assistance, <u>https://eec.ky.gov/Environmental-Protection/Water/GW/Pages/GWAssist.aspx</u> (last visited October 7, 2020).

¹⁵⁰ An Act To Ensure Safe Drinking Water for Families in Maine, Maine § Sec. 1. 22 MRSA §2601-A (2017).

¹⁵¹ *Id*.

¹⁵² COMAR 26.04.04.33.

¹⁵³State of Montana Environmental Laboratory, Chemistry Testing for Private Well Sample Submission Form (2019),

https://dphhs.mt.gov/Portals/85/publichealth/documents/Lab/EnvironmentalLabtesting/PrivateWellScreenBlueSheet.pdf?ver=2019-04-23-091219-930.

¹⁵⁴ Michigan Department of Environmental quality Office of Drinking Water & Municipal Assistance Environmental Health Section, Water Well Manual (2013), https://www.michigan.gov/documents/deq/deq-wb-dwehs-gwwfwim-section1_183024_7.pdf.

¹⁵⁵ Minnesota Administrative Rules, 4725.5650.

¹⁵⁶ Mississippi State Department of Health, Private Well Water Testing <u>https://msdh.ms.gov/msdhsite/_static/30,0,76,762.html</u> (last visited September 9, 2020).

¹⁵⁷ Mississippi State Department of Health, Agricultural Chemical Groundwater Monitoring, <u>https://www.mdeq.ms.gov/water/water-availability-and-use/source-water-assessment-branch/agchem-program/</u> (last visited October 7, 2020).

¹⁵⁸ Mississippi Department of Health, Title 15, Part 20, Subpart 72, Rule 1.4.2.; Miss. Code Ann. §41-26-6

¹⁵⁹ Id.

¹⁶⁰ Missouri Department of Health & Senior Services, Well Water Testing, <u>https://health.mo.gov/living/environment/privatedrinkingwater/testing.php</u> (last visited September 10, 2020).

¹⁶¹ Missouri Water Well Drillers Act Sections 256.600-640 RSMo.

¹⁶² Private Well Testing Act, N.J.S.A. 58:12A-26 et seq.

¹⁶³ New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, New Jersey Private Well Testing Act Primary and Secondary Drinking Water Standards,

https://www.state.nj.us/dep/watersupply/pwta/pdf/mcl_table_6_21_06.pdf.

¹⁶⁴ N.J.S.A. 58:12A-26 et seq. (effective 2002); New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, Division of Science, Research and Technology, Atherholt TB, et al., *The New Jersey Private Well Testing Act: An Overview*. (2009).

¹⁶⁵ N.J.A.C. 7:9C.

¹⁶⁶ New Mexico Environment Department, Liquid Waste Program, Free Well Water Testing, <u>https://www.env.nm.gov/liquid_waste/free-well-water-testing-2/</u> (last visited September 10, 2020).

¹⁶⁷ New Mexico Environmental Public Health Tracking, Private Well Identification (ID) Tags, <u>https://nmtracking.org/environment/water/private_wells/WellIDTag.html</u> (last visited September 10, 2020).

¹⁶⁸ New York Title: Appendix 75-C - Individual Onsite Water Supply Systems – Statewide Water Quality Standards (2016).

¹⁶⁹15A NCAC 18A .3801 et seq.

¹⁷⁰ North Dakota Department of Health, Private Well Water Testing, <u>http://www.ndhealth.gov/microlab/Water/</u> (last visited September 10, 2020).

¹⁷¹ Ohio Administrative Code 3701-28-04.

¹⁷² Oregon Ch. 448.271.

¹⁷³ Well Water Quality Testing Services, South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, <u>https://www.scdhec.gov/environment/bureau-water/residential-wells/well-water-quality-testing-services</u> (last visited September 8, 2020).

¹⁷⁴ Texas Water Code §26.408.

¹⁷⁵ Department of Environmental Conservation (Vermont), Wastewater System and Potable Water Supply Rules (2019),

https://dec.vermont.gov/sites/dec/files/dwgwp/rorules/pdf/Wastewater-System-and-Potable-Water-Supply-Rules-April-12-2019.pdf.

¹⁷⁶12 VAC 5-630.

¹⁷⁷ Washington State Department of Health, Compliance Requirements for Group B Water Systems (2006), <u>https://www.doh.wa.gov/Portals/1/Documents/Pubs/331-282.pdf</u>.

¹⁷⁸ Washington D.C. Drinking Water Division, Customers Can Get A Free Lead Test Kit, <u>https://www.dcwater.com/leadtest</u> (last visited September 17, 2020).

¹⁷⁹ S. 281.75, Wis. Stats.; Ch. NR 123, Wis. Adm. Code.

¹⁸⁰ Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, Water Sample Collection (2020), <u>https://dnr.wi.gov/files/pdf/pubs/DG/DG0088.pdf</u>.

© Center for Progressive Reform, 2020